Supreme Court Copy

Case No. S179194

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ADMINISTRATOR Call, atc.,

Petitioner,

VS.

WORKERS' COMPENSATION
APPEALS BOARD COMPENSATION
APPEALS BOARD COMPENSATION

Respondents.

Lear Farty III House

Case No.: S179194

(Court of Appeal Case No. H034040)

(WCAB Case No. ADJ1510738 (SJO 0251902))

SUPREME COURT

APR 2 6 2010

Doputy CRC 8.25(b)

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, CASE NO. H034040

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the legislature intended all annual increases to lifetime-payable workers' compensation benefits for workers injured on or after January 1, 2003, to be calculated retroactively to January 1, 2004, or prospectively only from the date those workers become entitled to such benefits. (Lab. Code, § 4659, subd. (c).²)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

There are two decisions at issue in this case, the decision of the Court of Appeal and the underlying decision of the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board ("Board"). Each incorrectly interprets subdivision (c), a statute governing workers' compensation. This case therefore solely involves questions of law, and review is *de novo* of both the Court of Appeal's decision and the Board's decision. (*Department of Rehabilitation v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1281 ("Dept. of Rehabilitation"), Tanimura & Antle v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 1489, 1494; Green v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1426, 1435; Gangwish v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 1284, 1293.)

The deference often given to the Board is not appropriate here

¹ Necessarily included in this issue is whether the increased payments be calculated retroactively to the date of a worker's injury, as the Board found.

² All further statutory references are to the Labor Code, unless otherwise specified. All references to subdivisions are to subdivisions of section 4659, unless otherwise specified.

³ The Court of Appeal's slip opinion is found as Exhibit 1 to Petition for Review ("Slip Op."). The Board's Decision is attached as Exhibit 1 to Petioner's Motion for Judicial Notice, filed and served concurrently.

because the Board's decision was clearly erroneous or unauthorized. (Honeywell v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2005) 35 Cal.4th 24, 34.) "Fidelity must be to the legislative intent as best shown by the legislature's use of clear and unambiguous statutory language." (Ibid., citing DuBois v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (1993) 5 Cal.4th 382, 387-388.) As argued fully below, the Board's interpretation of subdivision (c) is entitled to no deference as it shows no fidelity to the legislative intent.

INTRODUCTION

There are three types of disability payments to which an injured worker may be entitled: (1) temporary disability; (2) permanent disability; and (3) life pension. Subdivision (c), enacted as part of Assembly Bill 749, provides for increased payments for only some of the payments of these benefits.⁴

Prior to the enactment of AB 479, permanent and temporary

For injuries occurring on or after January 1, 2003, an employee who becomes entitled to receive a life pension or total permanent disability indemnity as set forth in subdivisions (a) and (b) shall have that payment increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004, and each January 1 thereafter, by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the "state average weekly wage" as compared to the prior year. For purposes of this subdivision, "state average weekly wage" means the average weekly wage paid by employers to workers covered by unemployment insurance as reported by the United States Department of Labor for California for the 12 months ending March 31 of the calendar year preceding the year in which the injury occurred.

(Stats. 2002, ch. 6, § 67 (AB 749).), attached as Exhibit 2 to Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice ("AB 749").

⁴ Subdivision (c), the section at issue in this matter was enacted in 2002 in AB 749:

disability benefit payments did not increase automatically after the worker's date of injury. AB 749 provided for some indexing of benefit and payments in a careful balance between providing adequate benefits to injured workers and maintaining cost control realized by other changes in the workers' compensation system. Two types of payments were, for the first time, indexed to rise each year with increases in the state's average weekly wage ("SAWW"): total permanent disability and life pensions. Partial permanent disability benefits (after which life pension payments begin) were not indexed. In subdivision (c), the legislature intended to provide workers with increases *once payments begin*, based on changes in the SAWW.

By creating automatic increases in certain payments, the California legislature addressed what many believe was an historical erosion of workers' compensation benefits to seriously injured workers. However, the legislature did not intend to solve completely the problem of erosion of benefit payments.

The specific question presented here is as of what date are payments increased under subdivision (c). Petitioner argues that payments do not begin to increase until the January 1 after a worker is entitled to a total permanent disability or life pension payment. That is, increases occur only for changes in the state wage after payment has begun. The Court of Appeal held that increases in payments begin on January 1, 2004, regardless of when a worker becomes entitled to payment; the Board held that increases in payment begin on the January 1 after the date of an injured worker's injury.

The decisions by the Court of Appeal and the Board are not correct interpretations of AB 749's language or legislative intent. The decisions

fail because they do not correctly interpret the plain meaning of the statute or the legislative history of AB 749. As seen below, the effect of both decisions is to change radically the delivery of benefits, both by creating a double escalator for benefits and by significantly altering the nature of life pensions. This result is not what the legislature intended by its enactment of AB 749. For these reasons, the Court of Appeal decision should be reversed and the Board decision should be annulled.

SUMMARY OF CASE

A. Disability Payments Prior to Assembly Bill 749. Temporary Disability

Temporary disability payments begin after a worker's injury and continue until the injured worker either returns to work or reaches a medically stable condition, known as permanent and stationary ("P & S"). Temporary disability is paid to compensate an injured worker for lost wages during the finite period of healing and recuperation from an industrial injury. (*Granado v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 399, 403-404; *Medrano v Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 56, 64.) Temporary disability benefits are intended to be a wage replacement benefit during the period before an injured worker is P & S. (*Herrera v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (1969) 71 Cal 2d 254; *California Compensation Insurance Co. v. Industrial Accident Com.* (1954) 128 Cal App 2d 797.) One measure of a state workers' compensation program's adequacy is its ability to supply this wage replacement. Temporary disability payments are a large

⁵ Trends In Earning Loss From Disabling Workplace Injuries In California (Rand Institute for Civil Justrice, 2002), p. 2 ("Rand Study"), attached as Exhibit 3 to Petitioner's Motion For Judicial Notice, and also

fraction of the benefits that the less severely injured workers receive.⁶

Temporary disability benefits are calculated as two-thirds of the worker's average weekly earnings at date of injury, within minimum and maximum amounts set by the legislature ("wage brackets"). (§ 4453, subd. (a). See, § 4454.) Historically, the legislature has set new wage brackets on an irregular basis to keep up with changes in the job market.⁷

Prior to 2002, the legislature was subject to criticism for not keeping up with changes in the state average wage and not being sufficiently responsive to changing employment characteristics. During the period from 1998 to 2003 (the effective date of AB 749), the state's average weekly wage increased approximately 20 percent. As of 2003 (the

available at

http://www.dir.ca.gov/CHSWC/Reports/TrendsInEarningsLoss-EcoCondition.pdf. See, also, Shor and Marria, California Passes Workers' Compensation Reform: Implementation Is Next Challenge, (July/August 2002) Workers' Compensation Policy Review, pp. 14-15. ("Shor and Marria"), attached as Exhibit 4 to Petitioner's Motion For Judicial Notice.

⁶ Rand Study, *supra*, p. 4.

⁷ See, for example, Stats 1937 ch. 90, amended Stats 1939 ch 308 2, Stats 1947 ch 1033 3, Stats 1951 ch 606 3, Stats 1955 ch 956 2, Stats 1957 ch 1996 3, Stats 1959 ch 1189 2, Stats 1961 ch 1621 2, Stats 1st Ex Sess 1968 ch 4, operative January 1, 1969, Stats 1971 ch 1330 1, ch 1750 7, operative April 1, 1972, Stats 1973 ch 1023 2, operative April 1, 1974, Stats 1974 ch 226 1, effective May 7, 1974, Stats 1975 ch 1263 11, operative January 1, 1977, Stats 1976 ch 1017 3, and repealed Stats 1977 ch 17 8, effective March 25, 1977, Stats 1977 ch 17 26, effective March 25, 1977, amended Stats 1977 ch 1018 1, Stats 1980 ch 1042 1, Stats 1982 ch 922 7, Stats 1989 ch 892 29, ch 893 3, Stats 1990 ch 1550 29 (AB 2910), amended Stats 1993 ch 121 37 (AB 110), effective July 16, 1993.

⁸ Shor and Marria, supra, at p. 15.

⁹ Official figures are not readily available before 1998. But compare California's average weekly wage in 1998 (\$658.97) with 2003 (\$790.50). See, Exhibits 5 and 6 to Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice.

effective date of AB 749), the wage brackets (i.e., minimum and maximum earnings) for temporary disability had remained unchanged: \$189.00 (minimum) to \$735.00 (maximum) per week. (§ 4453, subd. (a) (7)-(8).)¹⁰

Permanent Disability

The right to permanent disability payments commences when a worker becomes P & S. At that point, the nature and extent of a worker's permanent disability can be determined. (*Dept. of Rehabilitation, supra*, 30 Cal.4th at 1292; *LeBoeuf v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 234.). Permanent disability and life pension are each paid to compensate an injured worker for the long term, residual effects of an industrial injury once the injured worker has attained maximum medical recovery. (*Dept. of Rehabilitation, supra*, 30 Cal. 4th at 1291.) Permanent disability payments begin on the P & S date.

Total Permanent Disability

Workers who are 100% disabled (total permanent disability) receive permanent disability payments for life, calculated by the total temporary disability indemnity rate in effect on the worker's date of injury. (§ 4659, subd. (b); see, § 4453 ..., subd. (a).) Prior to AB 749, the weekly payment amount for total permanent disability had been calculated based on a worker's date of injury and did not increase thereafter. Total permanent disability payments end with the injured

The only workers whose temporary disability payments rise are those whose payments are delayed. (§ 4661.5.) This increase in temporary disability *payments* does not change the indemnity rate set in section 4453, subdivision (a) and therefore does not affect the initial rate paid for total permanent disability. (*Duncan v. Singer* (1978) 43 Cal. Comp. Cases 467 (en banc).) Section 4661.5 independently was modified to restrict the number of weeks of temporary disability payments, which reduces the effect of this penalty. (See, Slip Op. at pp. 16-17.)

worker's death. (§ 4700.)

Partial Permanent Disability

For permanent disability less than total, benefits are intended to compensate workers for their reduced earning capacity, rather than for actual wage loss. (Rand Study, supra, p. 7; Brodie v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1313.) Payments are calculated at two-thirds of a worker's average weekly wage but are subject to wage brackets that are different from the temporary disability wage brackets. (§ 4453, subd. (b).) Partial permanent disability wage brackets have been adjusted by the legislature on an irregular basis. (Footnote 7, supra.) The wage brackets for partial permanent disability during the 1996 to 2003 period varied between \$105.00 (minimum) and \$345.00 (maximum) per week to \$150.00 (minimum) and \$345.00 (maximum) per week. (§ 4453(b)(7).)¹¹ Payments for partial permanent disability are always paid for a set number of weeks, as determined by statute; the weekly payment amounts do not change for any reason. (§ 4658.) This means, for example, a worker injured in 2002 who receives an 80 percent disability rate and who earns more than the maximum average weekly wage would receive a weekly partial permanent disability payment of \$230 for 516.50 weeks (approximately 9.9 years).

Life Pensions

Life pension payments are a form of supplemental partial permanent disability benefit, which only start to be paid after a seriously injured

Starting with injuries in 1996, permanent disability wage brackets varied depending on the percentage of permanent disability. The figures given here are for permanent disability between 70 percent and 99.75 percent.

worker's payment of partial permanent disability ends. (§ 4659, subd. (a).) Like partial permanent disability payments, the initial payment amount of a life pension is based on a worker's date of injury. Payment of the life pension continues for the remainder of the worker's life. As with all other forms of disability payments, life pension payments traditionally have not increased once a worker became eligible to receive them. As with total permanent disability, life pension payments end with the injured worker's death. (§ 4700.)

Payments of life pensions have historically been extremely modest. (Compare, *United States Fidelity v. Department of Industrial Relations* (1929) 207 Cal. 144, 145 [life pension weekly amount 61% of weekly partial disability payment.]; *Raphael v. Bloomfield* (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 617, 625 [life pension weekly amount 50% of partial permanent disability payment.].) Because of the restrictive formula, life pension generally cannot be greater than about 60 percent of the average weekly earnings set in subdivision (a).

Life pensions have historically been calculated as one and one-half times the worker's average weekly earnings times the percentage of disability a worker has that exceeds 60 percent. (§ 4659, subd. (a) . See, Stats. 1917, ch. 586, § 9(b)(6).)¹² Average weekly earnings had a maximum of \$107.69 until 1993. As of 1996, the maximum weekly earnings rose to \$257.69.

B. Changes Made In AB 749.

In 2002, the legislature addressed the issue of long-term economic

¹² Stats 1917, ch. 586 is attached as Exhibit 7 to Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice

changes on benefit rates in an effort not to have to revisit benefit indemnity payment rates on a periodic basis. (Footnote 7, *supra*.) AB 749 did three things, as relevant to this case:

- It raised the wage brackets for temporary total disability and created an escalator based on the SAWW escalator to automatically raise the wage brackets for injuries after January 1, 2007;
- It increased the maximum average weekly earning for life pensions to almost twice the rate set in 1996;
- It created an escalator based on changes in the SAWW to automatically increase the weekly payments of total permanent disability and life pension that are made after January 1, 2004, for injuries after January 1, 2003. ¹⁴

Temporary Disability Wage Brackets. Continuing the historical increases in the average weekly wage brackets to set amounts, the legislature enacted increases to the "wage brackets" for injuries in calendar years 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006, for temporary disability payments in the same manner as prior increases. (§ 4453, subds. (a)(8)-(10).) It also created a new mechanism to increase the wage bracket on an annual basis after 2006, without intervening legislative action, starting for injuries in 2007. (*Ibid.*) After 2006, each succeeding year's wage brackets are increased from the previous year based on the percentage change in the SAWW, starting with changes as of January 1, 2007. (§ 4453, subd. (a).)¹⁵

¹³ Shor and Marria, *supra*, p. 15.

¹⁴ For a description of the multitude of other changes, see Shor and Marria, *supra*, generally. See also, AB 749, *supra*.

¹⁵ The SAWW is more than a different method of tracking changes in the cost of living and therefore is often incorrectly referred to as a

Thus, the legislature set in place automatic increases in temporary disability payments by raising the wage brackets for total temporary disability that it otherwise would have had to revisit as it did in years past.

The legislature, however, did not implement similar automatic increases in partial permanent disability wage brackets with a SAWW. (See, § 4453(b)(7).) Instead, AB 749 raised the minimum and maximum weekly wage for seriously, but not totally, injured workers to the set amount of \$405.00 per week for injuries on or after January 1, 2006.

<u>Life Pension</u>. The legislature left in place the traditional method of calculating life pension payments at one and one-half times a worker's weekly earnings for each percent of disability over 60 percent. The maximum weekly earning for life pension was raised to \$515.38 from \$257.69 for injuries after January 1, 2006. There is no further increase in the calculation of life pensions.

New Escalator By SAWW For Certain Payments. The legislature enacted a new mechanism, in subdivision (c), to automatically increase the "payment" for total permanent disability and life pension, on an annual basis based on percentage increases in the SAWW from the prior year, starting with payments made on or after January 1, 2004. No method for increasing weekly payment existed previously. Historically, payment for total permanent disability and life pension were based on a worker's earning on the date of the injury, and the payments never changed.

Because subdivision (c) potentially affected injured workers who

COLA. To the extent that AB 749 was intended to the overcome some of the wage loss associated with the loss of earning capacity, the legislature chose to calculate the loss based on a "closer proxy to the rating schedule." (Rand Study, *supra*, p. 7.)

were eligible for the first time for total permanent disability payments in 2003, the legislature set the first date on which to calculate the percentage change in SAWW as January 1, 2004.

Thus, in AB 749, the legislature created automatic increases for only two situations: to increase temporary disability wage brackets and payments of total permanent disability and life pension. It did not make automatic increases for partial permanent disability. These increases based on the SAWW were brand-new; they represented a new increase in the payments due the most severely injured workers.

When AB 749 was being considered by the legislature, cost estimates were prepared by a number of organizations, the most credible being the Workers' Compensation Insurance Rating Bureau ("WCIRB"). As the final Assembly Committee report shows, the WCIRB submitted its cost estimate on the bill. The WCIRB report shows that these estimates were based on the assumption "that these annual increases [for both total permanent disability and life pension] would commence the year following the year in which permanent total benefit [and life pension] payments began." These costs estimates were then carried forward into the enrolled legislation. As the Assembly Committee Report demonstrates, the cost of the bill was significant to its passage. Two prior bills, SB 71 and AB 1176,

¹⁶ Assembly Committee on Insurance Report, February 6, 2002 ("Assembly Committee Report"), pp. 14-15, attached as Exhibit 8 to Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice.

¹⁷ To Those Requesting Evaluations Of Assembly Bill 749 (Workers' Compensation Insurance Rating Bureau, February 1, 2002), attached as Exhibit 9 to Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice ("WCIRB Letter"), Appendix, fn 1.

were vetoed because of concerns that the changes were too costly. 18

C. Injured Worker's Claim

Real Party suffered from non-industrially related AIDS when he was injured in his employment. Real Party received \$728.00 per week while he was temporarily disabled from January 20, 2004, through December 16, 2004, and from December 31, 2004, through October 19, 2006. He and his employer agreed that he was 69.5% partially permanently disabled from his industrial injury. Real Party's settlement with his employer provided for 422 weeks of permanent disability paid at \$200.00 per week, the maximum payment allowed under section 4453, subdivision (b)(6)(B).

After Real Party settled his claim with his employer, he filed an application for Subsequent Injuries Benefit Trust Fund ("SIBTF") benefits pursuant to section 4751. SIBTF is funded and administered by the state to make sure that injured workers with prior disabilities are not unfairly disadvantaged. (Lab. Code, § 4751 et seq.) All of the injuries subject to payment by SIBTF involve injured workers whose combined disability exceeds 70 percent. (§ 4751.) This means that every case for SIBTF benefits includes a claim for life pension or total permanent disability.

On March 25, 2008, SIBTF and Real Party stipulated, *inter alia*, that October 20, 2006 (the P & S date) was the date of Real Party's first payment for permanent disability, and that Real Party had a total permanent disability "caused by the combination of both disabilities." (§ 4751.) The parties agreed that Real Party would receive from SIBTF a payment of \$528.00 per week for total permanent disability as of October 20, 2006 (\$728.00 less \$200.00 paid by the insurance company).

¹⁸ Assembly Committee Report, *supra*, p. 14.

The dispute here arose after Real Party claimed the initial \$728.00 weekly payment to which he had agreed and which started October 20, 2006, had to be increased to reflect annual changes in the SAWW from the date of his injury, January 20, 2004, to the date his permanent disability payments became due, October 20, 2006. The claimed increase was based on calculating a SAWW increase due on January 1, 2005, and then compounding this payment rate by changes in the SAWW as of January 1, 2006. SIBTF maintained that Real Party's initial payment as of October 20, 2006, was set by subdivision (b) [total permanent disability rates] and that increases to this payment amount only occurred for changes in the SAWW from that point forward. The first payment increase would be due on January 1, 2007.

D. Proceedings Below -- Board Decision

The Workers' Compensation Administrative Law Judge ("WCALJ") rejected Real Party's initial interpretation that all increases were to be calculated as of January 1, 2004, as "puzzling" and "improbable." He issued a Findings and Award ("F & A") concluding that the increase commenced as of the first January 1 after the date of injury, or January 1, 2005. On February 13, 2009, the Board issued its Opinion and Decision after Reconsideration essentially affirming the F&A on the basis of its own opinion to award increases to Real Party's total permanent disability indemnity benefit as of date of injury.

The Board's reasoning in part was:

First, we note that section 4659(c) provides that for injuries on or after January 1, 2003, where an employee becomes entitled to total

¹⁹ Attached as Exhibit 10 to Petitioner's Motion for Judicial Notice.

permanent disability indemnity or a life pension, that payment shall be increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004. We construe this to mean that each payment of total permanent disability indemnity or life pension that is received on or after January 1 following the date of injury shall be increased, no matter when the first such payment is received. This ensures that severely injured workers are protected from inflation, no matter when they received their first payment. In some cases there may be years of litigation before there is a determination that an employee is entitled to receive a life pension or total permanent disability indemnity award. In the case of a life pension, the first payment will ordinarily be made years after the date of injury. Nonetheless, the injured worker will have been protected against any inflation that may have ensued between the date of injury and the date of first payment of the life pension or total permanent disability indemnity.

This holding is also consistent with the second sentence of section 4659(c). The state average weekly wage which is the basis of the increased payments is determined initially by data in the "calendar year preceding the year in which the injury occurred," not the year in which the first payment is made. This is further evidence of legislative intent that the increased payments be calculated from the January 1 following the date of injury, not from the date of first payment.

Exhibit 1, supra, p. 3.

E. Proceedings Below -- Court of Appeal Decision

Petitioner sought review in the Court of Appeal on the ground that the increase in payment for total permanent disability should not be calculated until the January 1 after an injured worker first becomes entitled to a payment. Real Party argued that unless the increases started to apply immediately after the date of injury, the value of total permanent disability would be eroded by inflation because payment of this benefit sometimes does not start for many years. (Slip Op., p. 12.) The court rejected this argument for calculating the increases from the date of injury because the argument was not based on any statutory language and failed to give significance to the statute's every word, phrase and sentence. (Slip Op., pp.

12-13.)

The court issued a decision that rejected this interpretation as well as the Board's interpretation in favor of what it considered the plain meaning of the statute. As the court stated:

[W]hen an injured worker's total permanent disability payment, or life pension payment is calculated, that payment is subject to a COLA starting from January 1, 2004, and every January 1, thereafter.

(Slip. Op., pg. 18.)

The court agreed with Petitioner that by using the words in section 4659, subdivision (c) "an employee who becomes entitled to receive a life pension or total permanent disability indemnity" meant "when the right to total permanent disability compensation or a life pension arises; and that is not until the worker's condition has become permanent and stationary for total permanent disability indemnity and for a life pension until after the number of weeks that permanent partial disability payments must be paid." (Slip Op., pp. 13-14. [Emphasis in original.])

The court, however, considered that permanent disability payments do not increase over time, as may occur with temporary disability payments. (See, § 4661.5.) The court further postulated that if increases start from the permanent and stationary date for total permanent disability indemnity, then a totally disabled worker whose injury takes years to stabilize suffers erosion in the real value of that benefit during the years of healing before it is paid. (Slip Op., pp. 16-17.)

The court rationalized that the legislature apparently tried to rectify the problem of total permanent disability payments and life pensions not keeping pace with inflation by adding subdivision (c) to Section 4659.

Since the legislature could have written the statute to include the date of injury or the permanent and stationary date or the date when life pension starts to commence but instead wrote "commencing January 1, 2004," then consequently it concluded the legislature must have intended January 1, 2004 as the start date of the first increase for all cases. (Slip Op., p. 17.) The court surmised that the date of January 1, 2004, "makes sense when you consider that the maximum and minimum rates within which the worker's average weekly earnings must fall were set back in 2002." (*Id.*, fn. 9.)²⁰

ARGUMENT

I. AB 749'S LANGUAGE AND LEGISLATIVE HISTORY CONTROL THE INTERPRETATION OF SUBDIVISION (c), WHICH MUST BE READ SO AS NOT TO REACH ABSURD RESULTS.

This Court's primary task is to determine the legislature's intent in passing AB 749, if possible, by an analysis of the language in the statute itself, and the legislature's expressed intent:

The fundamental rule of statutory construction is that a court should ascertain the intent of the legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. In construing a statute, our first task is to look to the language of the statute itself. When the language is clear and there is no uncertainty as to the legislative intent, we look no further and simply enforce the statute according to its terms.

(DuBois supra, 5 Cal.4th at 387-388 (internal citations omitted); Brodie,

The court is factually incorrect on this point. While the last amendment to increase the minimum and maximum rates was passed in 2002, that amendment enacted a series of increases to take effect to minimum and maximum rates for total permanent disability indemnity and life pension through 2006 and, in the case of total permanent disability indemnity, to continue increasing indefinitely into the future. (See §§ 4453, subds. (a)(8)-(10), and 4659, subds. (a) and (b).)

supra, 40 Cal.4th at 1324.) When examining the language of a statute itself, consideration must be given to the context of the entire statute within which the language is used and the statutory scheme of which it is a part. (Ibid.) Of paramount importance is that the court not interpret a statute so as to reach absurd results. (Miklosy v. Regents of University of California (2008) 44 Cal.4th 876, 898.) The court should not presume "that the legislature intends, when it enacts a statute, to overthrow long-established principles of law unless such intention is clearly expressed or necessarily implied." (People v. Superior Court (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, 199; Brodie, supra, 40 Cal.4th at 1325.)

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