# SUPREME COURT COPY

Supreme Court No. S179194

WCAB Case No.: ADJ1510738/SJO 0251902

Sixth App. Dist.No. H034040

### IN THE SUPREME COURT

### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN C. DUNCAN, DIRECTOR of	)
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, as	)
ADMINISTRATOR of the	)
SUBSEQUENT INJURIES BENEFITS	)
TRUST FUND of the STATE OF	SUPREME COURT
CALIFORNIA	} FILED
Petitioner,	MAY 20 2010
v.	)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	) Frederick K. Onirion Clerk
THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION	Deputy
APPEALS BOARD OF THE STATE	) — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —
OF CALIFORNIA,	)
Dognandant	
Respondent.	) )
	)
XYZZX SJO2,	).
Real Party in Interest.	
Real I arry in Interest.	<i>)</i> )
D 15

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner in this matter is the Subsequent Injuries Benefit Trust Fund (hereafter SIBTF).

Respondent (Real Party in Interest) is XYZZX, applicant before the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board in the case below and the prevailing party at the Court of Appeals on the issues presented herein.

The issues (from the Respondent's standpoint), for consideration by this Court are:

Should the plain meaning of the statute (L.C. Section 4659(c))

be followed so that the benefit payment <u>rate</u> (as contrasted to
the actual benefit <u>payment</u>) be "increased annually
commencing January 1, 2004, and each January thereafter, by
an amount equal to the percentage increase in the "State
Average Weekly Wage" [hereinafter "SAWW"] as compared
to the prior year".

- 2) Petitioner SIBTF contends (See Opening Brief, page 4) that the DCA Opinion below has created a "double escalator" for permanent total disability benefits. There is no "double escalator" applicable in this case (or any other SAWW case), pursuant to the decision of the Sixth District Court of Appeal below. This is a "fiction" invented by the petitioner SIBTF as will be shown in the statutory "analysis" section herein.
- 3) There is no "retroactive" increase in benefits as complained of by Petitioner SIBTF. Rather, the benefit payment <u>rate</u> for total permanent disability is recalculated annually commencing January 1, 2004 to account for increases in the State Average Weekly Wage. No one is entitled to any payment of benefit before the date of injury for that particular individual. The benefit <u>rate</u> to which such person is entitled is statutorily recalculated annually to keep pace with any increase in the State Average Weekly Wage. That is <u>not</u> a retroactive <u>payment</u> of any benefit. (It is similar to Social Security increases which occur annually, whether one is receiving Social Security or is not yet qualified to receive

annualized increases. The annual recalculation of benefit increase is removed from the political considerations of the State Legislature, and transferred to a formula of adjustment annually tied to the State Average Weekly Wage. (See again L.C. Section 4659(c)).

### RELEVANT LABOR CODE STATUTES APPLICABLE

Temporary total disability rate is tied to SAWW increases commencing January 1, 2007. L.C. Section 4453(a)(10) states:

"Commencing on January 1, 2007, and each January 1 thereafter, the limits specified in this paragraph shall be increased by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the state average weekly wage as compared to the prior year."

2) <u>Permanent total</u> disability is paid at the temporary total disability rate. L.C. Section 4659(b) states:

"If the permanent disability is total, the indemnity based upon the average weekly earnings determined under Section 4453 shall be paid during the remainder of life."

3) <u>Permanent total</u> disability is tied to the SAWW the same as temporary total disability. L.C. Section 4659(c) states:

"For injuries occurring on or after January 1, 2003, an employee who becomes entitled to receive a life

pension or total permanent disability indemnity as set forth in subdivisions (a) and (b) shall have that payment increased annually commencing on January 1, 2004, and each January 1 thereafter, by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the "state average weekly wage" as compared to the prior year. For purposes of this subdivision, "state average weekly wage" means the average weekly wage paid by employers to employees covered by unemployment insurance as reported by the United States Department of Labor for California for the 12 months ending March 31 of the calendar year preceding the year in which the injury occurred."

4) Permanent total disability payments begin immediately on the ending of temporary total disability. L.C. Section 4650(b) states:

"If the injury causes permanent disability, the first payment shall be made within 14 days after the date of last payment of temporary disability indemnity. When the last payment of temporary disability indemnity has been made pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 4656, and regardless of whether the extent of permanent disability can be determined at that date, the employer nevertheless shall commence the timely payment required by this subdivision and shall continue to make these payments until the employer's reasonable estimate of permanent disability indemnity due has been paid, and if the amount of permanent disability indemnity due has been paid."

#### STATUTORY ANALYSIS

The payment rate for permanent total disability is directly tied to the temporary total payment rate (L.C. Section 4659(b)).

The payment rate for temporary total has an annual SAWW adjustment commencing 1/1/07. (L.C. Section 4453(a)(10))

The payment rate for permanent total has an annual SAWW adjustment commencing 1/1/04. (L.C. Section 4659(c))

For injuries between 2003 and 2007, permanent total SAWW increases occur via L.C. Section 4659(c). (As total temporary SAWW increases only begin 1/1/07)

For injuries 1/1/07 and after, permanent total benefits increase pursuant to the SAWW commencing the January 1<sup>st</sup> following date of injury, and are annually adjusted thereafter. (This because there has already been an increase annually in the TTD rate commencing 1/1/07 via L.C. Section 4453(a)(10), and thus, the requirement of L.C. Section 4659(c) for a SAWW annual increase has already occurred up to the date of injury.)

There thus is no "double escalator" as the PTD rate is statutorily tied to the TTD rate with a SAWW escalator already in place for the TTD rate until the date of injury.

TTD payment rate is fixed at date of injury. Beginning January 1<sup>st</sup> after date of injury, the PTD rate takes a SAWW increase per L.C. Section 4659(c).

Thus, the statutory scheme is (commencing 1/1/07) a uniform payment rate for total disability - whether that disability be temporary total or permanent total. The payment <u>rate</u> increases annually for each per the SAWW.

Obviously, for either TTD or PTD, no benefit is payable until 1) the date of injury occurs and 2) the disability is found to be total (either temporary total or permanent total).

The temporary total <u>rate</u> increases per the SAWW each year up to the date of injury. Commencing with the date of injury, the PTD rate increases annually per the SAWW.

There is thus a "seamless transition" between the temporary total and the permanent total rate - each annually increases per the SAWW.

There is no "double escalator" or "double COLA" - as the statutory scheme is uniformly transitional. The temporary total rate increases based on the SAWW prior to the date of injury occurring. The permanent total rate increases after the date of injury based on yearly SAWW adjustments.

What SIBTF contends for is a "flat lining" of permanent total benefits until the P&S date (date of payment of PTD), which may be years after the date of injury (if one is so seriously injured that it takes years to heal).

Likewise, as to life pension rates, SIBTF contends for a "flat lining" of such rates from 2004 to the "date of payment" - which for a <u>partial</u> permanent disability payout, the life pension payment may not begin until 20 or 30 years into the future.

### **CONCLUSION**

Thus, the issue presented thus is <u>not</u> the issue as stated by SIBTF. It is rather, whether permanent total disability benefits should "flatline" to the date of payment, as contended for by SIBTF or whether - as contended by Respondent - total disability payments (TTD or PTD) and life pensions should be indexed per the plain meaning of the statutes to keep pace with inflation.